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"Glimmerstone' is an excellent example of a Gothic Revival Cottage built between 1844-1847
for Henry N. Fullerton, manager of the Black River Manufacturing and Canal Company in Ca-
vendish. It is a 1-1/2 story post and beam building faced with snecked ashlar of gneiss
and mica schist with the fourteen gables of the roof sheathed in imitation slate. The
house was named "Glimmerstone'" because of the sparkling mica.

Located on State Route 131, the house is surrounded by stone walls and terraces which were
built {c.::1910) for Dr. E. F. Hodges. This stonecame from a ledge on the road to Proctors-
ville (westerly on Route 131) and partly from the ruins of a stone building near the rail-
road crossing in Proctorsville, which had been used for wool storage by the Fitton Mill.
The date stone from this building is marked '"1857" and is now part of the wall in front of
"Glimmerstone."

The main facade of the house faces southwest and is "L'"-shaped; although the building is
asymmetrical it has a balanced appearance. A projecting entrance porch in the left bay
has a groin vaulted ceiling; the chamfered posts support a wooden gabled bay containing
anoriel window. This oriel contains a double Gothic arched window with an inflected pedi-
ment which is further embellished by crockets. The oriel window is visually supported by
three brackets and has the nameplate "Glimmerstone' below the windows. This nameplate was
designed by Dr. Hodges and hammered out of copper by a London coppersmith. The main gable
of the entrance bay has scroll-sawn bargeboards in a foliated design and a large pineapple
finial and pendant. Balancing this entry bay is a two-story bay window, each story with

a projecting hood. The upper has scalloped bargeboards and the lower is supported by iron
brackets. On the roof slope between the entry bay and the bay window is a small, steeply
pitched gabled dormer with two Gothic arched windows and undulating bargeboards similar to
those on the southeast and northwest sides and the rear facade. Visible from the front are
three panelled brick chimneys which pierce the roof ridge at even intervals. o

The southeast (right) side of the house contains two gabled wall dormers, faced in flush
board siding, and containing triple Gothic arched windows. The bargeboards are undulating
and are similar to those on the small gabled dormer on the main facade, the northwest side
and the rear.

The northwest (left) side of ""Glimmerstone' has an iron bracketed hood above the two doors
and two steeply pitched gabled wall dormers, faced in flush board siding, containing paired
Gothic arched windows. The bargeboards on these dormers are similar to those on the south-
east side, the rear, and the small gable dormer on the facade. The main gable of the house
has a lacy bargeboard. Attached to the northern end of the house is a ¢.1919 1-1/2 story,
wood frame garage with a gabled roof with shed dormers which have solid bargeboards along
the raking eaves.

The northeast (rear) section of the house is '"'U'"-shaped. It has steeply pitched gabled
wall dormers, faced with flush board siding, containing paired Gothic arched windows and
bargeboards similar to those on the southeast and northwest sides and the small front dor-
mer. The main gables at the rear of the house have solid wavy bargeboards. The right bay
contains the c. 1919 garage structure and the left bay has a one-story (c. 1920) shingle
style porch. The center section has a one-story, wood frame, shed roof kitchen addition
which was added c. 1920.
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A 1-1/2 story, wood frame, clapboarded, gable roof barn, built c. 1850 and 1880, is to
the west of the house. The roof is sheathed in slate and surmounted by a cupola.

"Glimmerstone," with its fourteen gables, is one of the finest Gothic Revival cottages
in the State of Vermont. The unique architectural quality of the house indicates that
its architect, Lucius Page, undoubtedly based the design of the house on the publised
pattern books of the time and possibly on those published by A. J.:Downing; i.e. A Trea-

tise on the Theory and Practice of Landscape Gardening (1841) and Cottage Residences
(1842).
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Situated on Vermont 131 between the Villages of Cavendish and Proctorsville, within the
Township of Cavendish, is "Glimmerstone.'" By its design and materials, it relates to
both national architectural styles of the time, and current methods of stone construction

in Vermont; it is an outstanding Gothic Revival cottage constructed in snecked ashlar
mica.

Southern Windsor County is known as the stone house belt of Vermont. Here, in the years
1832-1845, 75 or more stone structures were constructed including churches, schools, homes,
commercial buildings, industrial buildings, mills and as cemetery receiving tombs. The
stone used, gneiss and mica schist, is abundant in this area of Vermont and found near

the Earth's surface in vertical layers. The stone for "Glimmerstone' was taken from a
ledge a quarter of a mile north of the house. The stone was drawn to the site on sleds
during the winter and the walls were laid the following summer. The stone was sold by

the perch, or rod, after it was laid. In snecked ashlar construction, large, smooth stone
about four inches thick were used as an outside veneer and backed up by rubblestone. At
the top of each slab, tie stones, or snecks, were laid across the thickness to give the
wall strength. Thus, the walls were built alternating veneer slabs and snecks and bonded
by native lime which resulted in a strong, tight wall. The native Vermont lime, brownish
in color, was usually decorated by a brush line of white to accent the stone.

Oral tradition states that Scottish stone masons, who were working in Canada, emigrated
to Cavendish in 1832 to work on the stone factory building of the Black River Manufactur-
ing and Canal Company. Henry N. Fullerton, who had "Glimmerstone' constructed, was the
manager of this woolen mill. The Aberdeen region of Scotland has a tradition of snecked
ashlar construction and in all likelihood the local Vermont masons acquired new skills
working with the Scottish and continued to use these skills on other buildings after the
completion of the woolen mill. (See the Cavendish, Vermont Universalist Church entered
on the National Register, April 24, 1973 and the Chester, Vermont Stone Village Historic
District entered on the National Register May 17, 1974.)

When Henry Fullerton had "Glimmerstone" constructed (1844-1847) he hired Lucius Paige, a
local master carpenter, to draw the plans; the stone masons were John Adams and Clark
Wardner of Reading, Vermont. Paige undoubtedly based his designs on the published pat-
terns of Andrew Jackson Downing, giving the house the many architectural qualities which
characterize the general picturesqueness of the Gothic Revival period.

The house is an outstanding example of snecked ashlar construction and one of the finest
examples of Gothic Revival style in the State of Vermont.
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